1950

Ruth Marie Basinger v. Standard Furniture Company, Zion's Co-Operative Mercantile Institution, Zion's Savings Bank and Trust Company, and Lois Greenwood : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF CASE

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The parties will be designated as follows: plaintiff and appellant will be referred to as appellant; defendants and respondents, Standard Furniture Company, a corporation, and Zion's Co-operative Mercantile Institution,

will be referred to as respondents. The defendant, Zion's Savings Bank and Trust Company and Lois Greenwood, will be referred to merely as defendants.

All italics are ours.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant, on the 23rd of December, 1947 at 3:30 in the afternoon, was walking westward on the south side of South Temple Street. She was at that time accompanied by her four small children; three children were walking at her side and she carried her daughter Gloria, who was two years of age, in her arms. As she reached the west side of the driveway which enters into the rear of the Standard Furniture Company and Zion's Co-operative Mercantile Institution from South Temple Street she looked into the driveway and onto the street and then crossed over the driveway. As she reached the west side she caught her foot on a perpendicular ledge at the western edge of the driveway to the rear of the aforementioned business houses. At the point appellant caught her foot the driveway was about one and one-half inches lower than the City sidewalk immediately to the west. Mrs. Basinger fell forward heavily and as she fell she threw her daughter ahead of her so as not to fall on her and caught the full weight of her fall on her arms, shoulders and hands. Appellant suffered severe injuries to the muscles, ligaments and soft tissues of her shoulders, arms, back and neck. Ever since the accident appellant has suffered continuous dis-

ability. The disability was total for some time after her injuries and had progressively decreased to the time of trial, but even then she could not accomplish the usual and ordinary work of taking care of her family and her housework.

The case came on for trial on the 30th of June, 1949 before the Honorable Ray Van Cott, Jr. At the close of appellant's case all of the defendants made motions for nonsuit. The motions on part of each and every defendant were granted. The grounds for said rule was different as to the defendants, Zion's Savings Bank and Trust Company and Lois Greenwood. As to those defendants the basis of the court's ruling was that the evidence did not show that either the bank or Lois Greenwood ever used the driveway from South Temple Street into the rear of the Standard Furniture Company and Zion's Mercantile Institution. From those rulings the **appellant** does not appeal. The Court, however, nonsuited plaintiff as to the defendants who are respondents in this action on different grounds, and from his ruling this appeal is prosecuted.

The evidence demonstrated conclusively and without any conflict that there was a definite perpendicular ledge at the point where appellant fell which extended several feet along the western side of the driveway into the rear of Standard Furniture and Zion's Co-operative Mercantile Institution. Photographs of the ledge were introduced in evidence as exhibits. The photographs show the ledge as it appeared on the day that appellant

fell. They also show that the point where appellant fell was a low point in the driveway. These exhibits are marked as Exhibit "A", "B", and "1".

The manager of the Z.C.M.I. Tea Room, Sibyl Watts, testified that the mercantile institute received deliveries from delivery trucks through the Standard Furniture driveway and such deliveries averaged five or six a day. The trash and garbage was also removed from the back door of the tea room through the driveway, and that this use by Z.C.M.I. had continued for at least nine years to the witness's own knowledge. (R. 170-1-2).

Witness Smith testified that he had observed the respondent, Standard Furniture Company, using the driveway into the rear of their store for fifteen or twenty years and that he had also seen Sunfreeze delivery wagons go through the driveway to Z.C.M.I. (R. 200). He also testified that the vehicles he observed going into Standard Furniture Company were big furniture van trucks. (R. 201).

Witness Armstrong, manager of Standard Furniture Company, testified that the Standard Furniture Company had been in operation since November 9, 1909 and that ever since that time they had used the driveway and that their trucks and several other trucks not belonging to them had used it. At the time of trial the Standard Furniture Company had six trucks, two of

which were cab-over vans of a ton and a half designated tonnage. Armstrong testified further that the use had been constant over the twenty years of his association with Standard Furniture, the exact use depending on the amount of business transacted and the number of trucks which the Standard Furniture Company owned (R. 205-6). It was Armstrong's judgment that there would be fifty different trucks using the driveway serving the respondent Z.C.M.I.'s Tea Room and the Standard Furniture Company business. Armstrong also testified on cross-examination by Mr. Christensen, counsel for Standard Furniture Company, that the low point in the driveway had existed for as many years as he could remember and that as far as he knew during the twenty years of his association with Standard Furniture Company the driveway appeared as it is shown in Exhibit "A" (R. 211, 212). He further testified that Standard Furniture Company had made no effort whatsoever to correct the condition in the driveway.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

1. That there was sufficient substantial evidence from which a jury could find the respondents were both negligent and that their negligence was the proximate cause of appellant's injury and therefore the orders of the court granting respondents' motions for nonsuit were erroneous, depriving appellant of her right to a jury trial.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THERE IS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE THAT RESPONDENTS PUT THE SIDEWALK TO AN UNUSUAL AND EXTRAORDINARY USE WHICH CAUSED THE DEFECT FROM WHICH APPELLANT RECEIVED HER INJURIES.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THERE IS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE THAT RESPONDENTS PUT THE SIDEWALK TO AN UNUSUAL AND EXTRAORDINARY USE WHICH CAUSED THE DEFECT FROM WHICH APPELLANT RECEIVED HER INJURIES.

The Exhibits A, B, and 1, show that the point where the driveway was sunk below the adjoining sidewalk was a short portion of the driveway. They show that the cement block which was in the driveway was cracked and broken in an easterly-westerly direction. The pictures also show that the southernmost edge of the driveway and sidewalk are level with one another. From this evidence the jury might well find that the extraordinary use which had been imposed on the sidewalk by the respondents was the cause of the breaking of the cement blocks and the ledge along the western edge of the driveway. The pictures themselves might well be the basis for an inference that some extra-

ordinarily heavy use other than pedestrian and ordinary foot travel on the sidewalk caused the breaking of the cement slab in the driveway and the lowering of the driveway below the edge of the sidewalk to the west and in this way created the ledge which caused appellant to suffer her fall and injuries. The law of unusual and extraordinary uses of public sidewalks was thoroughly discussed by this court in the case of *Salt Lake City v. William Schubach, et al.*, 108 Utah 266, 159 P. 2d 149, 160 A.L.R. 809, 815, 819. There this court held that the person who put a public sidewalk to an extraordinary use is responsible for the maintenance, repair and upkeep of the sidewalk at the place where his unusual and extraordinary use occurs. The Schubach case places the liability for injuries to users of the sidewalk on the party negligent who creates or maintains a dangerous situation and whose failure to maintain the thing he has used for his own benefit or purpose causes the accident. The evidence in the present case clearly shows that both Standard Furniture Company and Z.C.M.I. put the public sidewalk to an extraordinary and unusual use, and the evidence is without conflict that the defect in the sidewalk had existed for a long time and that no attempt to repair or alleviate the defect had been made by either respondent.

The question of whether or not a defect is such as would constitute a dangerous and unsafe condition in the sidewalk is a question of fact which must be determined by a jury. In the case of *Ray v. Salt Lake City*, 92 Utah 412, 69 P. 2d 256, 119 A.L.R. 153, the actual differences

in elevations of adjoining sections of sidewalks was from three-quarters to seven-eighths of an inch on the north side and one-quarter to three-eighths of an inch on the south side. The Utah Court held that this elevation was sufficient to make a jury question of whether or not this elevation constituted a danger. The court stated its position in the following discussion:

“ * * * This court in discussing the matter in the case of *Shugren v. Salt Lake City*, 48 Utah, 320, 159 P. 530, 533, refused to follow what was then recognized as the numerical weight of authority, and followed what appears to be the only course that could be followed. It was there said: ‘This court is firmly committed to the doctrine that ordinarily the question of whether the maintenance of a particular defect in a street or sidewalk constitutes negligence on the part of the municipality is a question of fact for the jury.’

“The following cases are cited: *Jones v. Ogden City*, 32 Utah, 221, 89 P. 1006; *Bills v. Salt Lake City*, 37 Utah, 507, 109 P. 745; *Robinson v. Salt Lake City*, 40 Utah, 497, 121 P. 968; *Sweet v. Salt Lake City*, 43 Utah, 306, 134 P. 1167.”

The *Salt Lake City v. Schubach* case, *supra*, sets forth the general principles applicable to the case at bar. There the owner of the abutting property constructed in the sidewalk an entrance to his basement, the entrance being covered by iron or steel doors. The steel doors became out of repair and a pedestrian was injured. The pedestrian sued Salt Lake City, recovered

judgment against it and Salt Lake City brought the action here discussed against the tenant and abutting owner of the property for whose convenience the entrance way was constructed. This court held that the owner of the land was liable to the City for the amount of recovery by the pedestrian and stated the applicable principles in the following language:

“The ultimate liability is upon the author or continuer of the nuisance. When the owner installs such passageways, vaults or coal holes, it is presumably done for the benefit of his property. ‘Neither the public or other individuals can derive any possible advantage from such a use of the sidewalk, but it is solely for the defendant’s benefit, and he must see to it that he does not endanger the safety of others, and that he incommodes the public as little as possible.’ ”

The general principle set down was that any person who makes use of the public sidewalk for his own benefits, using it in an unusual or extraordinary manner, must exercise care that pedestrians are not endangered by the extraordinary use made of the sidewalk. The court set forth the principles succinctly in the following language:

“ * * * Clearly enough, as to the person injured the liability rests upon the party negligent, the party who creates, or maintains a dangerous situation, whose failure to maintain the thing he is using for his own benefit or purpose causes the accident.”

Many cases on facts similar to the *Salt Lake City v. Schubach*, supra, case have been decided where entrance ways, skylights and other unusual uses have been made of public sidewalks to benefit the adjacent property owners. A leading case in California on the matter is *Monsch v. Pellissier*, 187 Cal. 790, 204 P. 224. There the use made of the sidewalk was for the purpose of supplying light to defendant's basement. The skylight was allowed to get broken and out of repair. The California court applied the principles set forth in *Salt Lake City v. Schubach*, supra, and arrived at the conclusion that the person suffering injuries as a result of the failure of the owner of the abutting property was entitled to recover against the abutter. A later California case applying the same reasoning to a use by an abutting owner of the sidewalk for a driveway is *Granucci v. Claasen*, 204 Cal. 509, 269 P. 437, 59 A.L.R. 435, 439. The abutting owner constructed a driveway out of planks superimposed on the sidewalk in front of his premises. A spike in one of the planks became loose and plaintiff stumbled on the spike and suffered personal injuries. The California court citing *Monsch v. Pellissier*, supra, as authority held that the use of the sidewalk for a driveway was an unusual and extraordinary use and stated the duties imposed on the user in the following language:

“This driveway having been thus constructed and used not primarily for sidewalk purposes but for the benefit and convenience of the said defendants in connection with their adjacent property, and which use was one which was

independent of and apart from the ordinary and accustomed use for which sidewalks are designed, the duty was cast by law upon the defendants to exercise reasonable care and diligence in the keeping of said driveway at the point where it was superimposed upon said sidewalk in a proper and safe condition for the passage of pedestrians rightfully using said sidewalk and said driveway superimposed by defendants thereon. *Monsch v. Pellissier*, 187 Cal. 792, 204 Pac. 224; *Du Val v. Boos Bros. Cafeteria Co.*, 45 Cal. App. 383, 187 Pac. 767; 20 R. C. L. p. 77, Sec. 68; 13 R. C. L. p. 320; *Grand Forks v. Paulsness*, 19 N. D. 293, 40 L.R.A. (N.S.) 1158, 123 N. W. 878; *Ryder v. Kinsey*, 62 Minn. 85, 34 L.R.A. 557, 54 Am. St. Rep. 623, 64 N. W. 94; *Mullen v. St. John*, 57 N. Y. 567, 15 Am. Rep. 530; *Gray v. Boston Gaslight Co.* 114 Mass. 149, 19 Am. Rep. 324. The duty which was thus cast upon the defendant Mary J. Claasen, as owner of said premises, continued during the entire period of the presence and use of said driveway in connection therewith and said defendant could not relieve herself of such duty either by leasing the same to her codefendant or by contracting with him by the terms of said lease for the keeping of said premises and said driveway in a proper state of repair."

The uses to which the defendants had put the public sidewalk were almost the same use to which respondents had put the sidewalk to in the present case. The court describing the use stated as follows:

"From the evidence as thus far presented it appears conclusively, for the purposes of this appeal, that the said driveway at the point where

the plaintiff tripped and fell upon it was in a state of disrepair, which, if imputable to the negligence of said defendants, would suffice to entitle this plaintiff to maintain her action. The undisputed evidence disclosed that said driveway during the ten years of its existence, with the exception of a brief intermission, had been used and passed over daily by more or less heavy trucks and horsedrawn vehicles in connection with the use of said premises as a brewery and later as a coffee mill. During that entire period, according to the testimony both of the owner of said premises and of her son, the lessee thereof, the driveway had never been subjected to any sort of repair."

The California court treated the use of the sidewalk as a driveway into the premises of the abutting owner in exactly the same way as it treated the use of the sidewalk for a light well and other similar uses made by abutting owners of public sidewalks, and saw no difference between the different types of uses. Certainly all of the uses are unusual and extraordinary uses of the public sidewalk. In *Granucci v. Claasen*, supra, the court stated:

" * * * since the portion of said sidewalk upon which the defendants' driveway was superimposed was being used by said defendants, not as a sidewalk nor primarily for the use and convenience of the general public, but that the same had been constructed and was being used by the defendants primarily as a driveway into their said premises and for their private use, convenience and benefit. To such a state of facts the decision

of this court in the case of *Monsch v. Pellissier*, supra, has direct application.”

Appellant has discovered a number of cases covering unusual uses of public sidewalks and has been unable to find any case where it has not been held that the person putting the sidewalk to an unusual use is charged with the responsibility for injuries incurred when the use renders the sidewalk dangerous and unsafe for pedestrian travel. There are a number of cases which hold that using the public sidewalk as a driveway is an unusual and extraordinary use. These cases hold that the active negligence of the user of the public sidewalk is the basis upon which recovery should be based by the pedestrian suffering injury. A case setting forth the basic principle of law covering this is *Davis v. Tallon, et al.*, 96 N.J.L. 618, 103 Atl. 236, 237. The court stated the principles upon which the user of the sidewalk was held liable to a pedestrian for injuries created by the use of the sidewalk in unmistakable language:

“ * * * The plaintiff’s case was not rested upon any legal obligation of the owner to keep the sidewalk in repair, but upon the claim that defendants, by subjecting the sidewalk to a use not intended, that of use by ordinary pedestrians, created a nuisance which rendered them liable for injuries to persons lawfully using it. The case was submitted to the jury on this theory, who found for the plaintiff against the owners, and awarded her \$100, and in favor of the defendant Schreiber.”

the court holding that the broken condition of the flagstones of the sidewalk where the defendant had used it for egress and ingress to its premises would give raise to an inference that the defect was caused by such use, stated:

“ * * * With the broken condition of the flagstones existing, subject to the inference that the condition was caused by using the sidewalk for the passage of heavy carts from the street to the lot by prior tenants with the knowledge and implied participation therein by the owners, and the testimony of the defendant Schreiber that the flagstones were not broken by him, the jury might infer that the nuisance was created by the act of former tenants, and not by Schreiber, but his exoneration would not discharge the owners from liability for the acts of their other tenants in which they participated. Three causes of action are set out in the complaint: First that the owners negligently used the sidewalk so that it became dangerous, by which neglect the plaintiff was injured; and second, that the owners, for their own convenience and that of their lessees, created and maintained this dangerous condition. On one or the other of these causes the jury found, as they properly might, against the owners.”

Zak v. Craig, 5 N.J. Misc. R. 275, 136 Atl. 410, 411, is a later New Jersey case applying the principles of the Davis case to use by trucks. The ingress and egress there was into a garage which opened upon the public highway. The defendant argued that there was no legal duty on the part of the defendant to keep and repair

the sidewalk and that the defendant was not responsible for the acts of tenants on her property. The court affirming a verdict in favor of the plaintiff for the sum of \$3,000.00 stated the theory of liability as follows:

“The theory upon which the liability of the defendant was submitted to the jury was the maintenance of a nuisance in the public highway. There was plenary proof that the sidewalk did not become defective and unsafe from the ordinary use thereof by the general public, but it became broken up as the result of a use for which it was not normally designed, namely, the passage of heavy motor trucks over it to and from the defendant’s garage, leased to tenants, for the storing of motor trucks, and in which use the flagstones were broken, and a hole seven inches in diameter and six inches in depth was made in the sidewalk, making it unsafe and dangerous to the public having occasion to use it. The condition of the sidewalk constituted a public nuisance. The only question in the case was whether there was any evidence tending to establish that the defendant caused or maintained the nuisance.”

Further enlarging upon the inferences that could be drawn from the fact of damage to the sidewalk at the point where the extraordinary use was imposed upon it, the court stated what we consider to be an applicable principle:

“There was also testimony in the case which tended to show that, at the time of the expiration of the lease to the grocery company and the renewal thereof to it, such renewal impliedly arising from the fact that the defendant permitted

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