1950

Ruth Marie Basinger v. Standard Furniture Company, Zion's Co-Operative Mercantile Institution, Zion's Savings Bank and Trust Company, and Lois Greenwood : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

THE DEFENDANTS WERE ENTITLED TO A NONSUIT AND DISMISSAL AS THE PLAINTIFF FAILED TO PRODUCE ANY EVIDENCE WHATSOEVER TO SUSTAIN HER CHARGE OF NEGLIGENCE ALLEGED IN HER AMENDED COMPLAINT.

I.

PLAINTIFF FAILED TO PROVE THAT DEFENDANTS CONSTRUCTED OR MAINTAINED SAID DRIVEWAY.

There is absolutely no evidence to show that these defendants, or any one else, constructed and maintained this driveway. The only maintenance shown in the record was the re-surfacing of the entrance to the driveway from the street, done, presumably, by the city. (R. p. 219). Furthermore, there is no evidence at all as to the ownership of the alleyway. The plat, introduced in evidence as Exhibit "E," shows the property of the Zions Savings Bank, 45 feet by 165 feet, and shows an arrow extending into this alleyway or right of way. But Willard R. Smith, the vice president of the bank, testifying on behalf of the plaintiff, stated very definitely that the bank did not own this alleyway—all it owned was a piece 45 feet wide on Main Street and 165 feet long on South Temple Street (R. p. 196). The only connection which the evidence shows these defendants have with this

alleyway is that defendant Standard Furniture Company leases premises, and the defendant Z. C. M. I. owns premises, which abut at some point on this alleyway and that they use, and have used, this alleyway to deliver goods to and take away goods from their places of business. We have either quoted or referred to all the evidence which in any manner relates to the construction and maintenance and ownership of this alleyway and respectfully submit that there is no evidence whatever to sustain the plaintiff's allegation that these defendants constructed and maintained the same.

II.

USE OF THE ALLEYWAY BY THESE DEFENDANTS IS ADMITTED.

That these defendants have used this alleyway, and were using it at the time of plaintiff's accident, as a means of ingress and egress to and from their respective places of business is shown by the evidence. But there is an absolute vacuum in the evidence as to the legal basis upon which such use is founded, whether under legal right or adverse use. We mention this phase simply to make it clear that there is, under the evidence, no duty on the part of either defendant to keep the alleyway and driveway in repair because of or as an incident to ownership thereof, or any claim of ownership.

III.

PLAINTIFF'S RIGHT OF ACTION, IF SHE HAS ONE, MUST REST ENTIRELY ON THE ALLEGATION THAT THE USE MADE BY THESE DEFENDANTS OF SAID DRIVEWAY AND ALLEYWAY IN RUNNING TRUCKS AND OTHER VEHICLES OVER THE SAME CAUSED THE DRIVEWAY TO SINK BELOW THE LEVEL OF THE SIDEWALK TO THE WEST, LEAVING A PERPENDICULAR LEDGE ABOUT 3 INCHES HIGH ALONG THE WEST EDGE OF THE DRIVEWAY.

We remind the court again that we have quoted and referred to all the evidence in the record that could have any bearing upon this point. We shall proceed to analyze it.

There is absolutely no evidence that at some time in the past said driveway was on a level with the sidewalk to the west. There is definite evidence that it is now, and for 20 years has been on a level with the sidewalk to the east. See statement of Mr. Armstrong R. 212, quoted in our Statement of Facts and see photo Exhibit 1. Unless it is shown that at some time prior to plaintiff's accident the driveway was on a level with the sidewalk to the west how can it be said that at some time prior to plaintiff's accident it sunk below the sidewalk level? It might be assumed, of course, that the driveway, as originally constructed, was level with the west sidewalk as then constructed, the same as it is on the east side. If the evidence were that there had been no change in the sidewalk to the west and that it is still the original sidewalk and that it originally was on a level with the

driveway there might be room for an inference that the driveway had settled or sunk, providing, of course, there was no room for an inference that the sidewalk had raised by reason of the action of the elements.

There would also be the difficulty of finding anything in the evidence to show that the trucks or vehicles used by or for either or both of these defendants caused this sinking. There is not a shred of evidence to show that. All that appears is this: There is a difference in elevation between the west edge of the driveway and the adjacent sidewalk of about $1\frac{1}{2}$ inches at the point where plaintiff claims she fell, the lowest point along the entire west edge. So we must conclude or permit the jury to infer that it was the trucks of the defendants that caused that difference in elevation. There is no evidence that this driveway was not used by others than these two defendants. There is no evidence to show that the settlement might not have occurred from natural causes. The photos, exhibits A, B and 1, show the west part of the driveway to be entirely intact, except for the crack running east and west shown on exhibit B, and there appears to be no difference in elevation between the two sides of this crack. The whole driveway must have settled, and such settlement is as readily attributable to the weather conditions or to the manner of the original construction as it is to the use by defendants' trucks.

Again, how can either defendant be held liable without proof that it was its trucks that caused the sinking? Suppose it was the trucks of just one of the defendants

that caused the sinking. Could the other defendant then be held liable? Are we to assume that the trucks of both defendants caused the sinking? If there was a sinking it could have been caused by the weight of one extra heavy truck going over the driveway once. That truck could have belonged to or have been servicing either of the defendants, or it could have belonged to or have been servicing neither of them. It is apparent that to charge both, or either of the defendants with having caused the sinking through use by their or its trucks is to indulge, not in any legitimate inference, but in pure speculation. If the driveway sank after its construction, why didn't it sink on the east side as well as on the west side? The testimony above quoted, and exhibit 1, show that it is on a level with the sidewalk to the east even though that sidewalk was "shattered really worse than the driveway and has been shattered for 20 years." (R. p. 212). What caused the shattering of the sidewalk to the east? That cannot be credited to the use of the driveway by trucks. It is entirely possible that the cracks in the driveway also occurred from causes other than passage of trucks over the driveway.

Fortunately we are not left to speculation, nor is there any basis even for indulging in inferences, as to how this difference in elevation between the west edge of the driveway and the adjacent sidewalk occurred. *It was built that way when the sidewalk to the west was rebuilt in 1930 or 1931.* This is the definite, positive testimony of plaintiff's own witness, James M. Armstrong, from his own personal knowledge of the fact.

He testified that the sidewalk to the west of the driveway was reconstructed in 1930 or 1931 (R. p. 220). He further testified as follows:

Q. Now do you recall and did you observe that when the sidewalk was built west from the driveway that it was built a little higher than the driveway?

A. Yes, I recall that very markedly. There isn't a great deal of raise there but there is a raise and it has always been there."

Q. Since the sidewalk was built on the west side of the driveway?

A. Yes.

In view of such testimony where is there any room for inferring that the use of the driveway by trucks caused the difference in elevation between the driveway and the sidewalk to the west? The cause of the difference in elevation is thus fully and definitely accounted for. The walk was constructed that way, and these defendants had nothing whatsoever to do with that construction.

IV.

AN ABUTTING OWNER OR OCCUPIER IS NOT RESPONSIBLE FOR MAINTAINING THE SIDEWALK IN FRONT OF HIS PREMISES.

Section 15-7-47, U.C.A. 1943, provides as follows:

"The foregoing provisions of this Article [relating to special assessment for street con-

struction] shall apply to the repaving of streets and sidewalks, but not to repairs thereon. The governing body shall, by ordinance, define what constitutes repaving, what repairs and what extraordinary repairs. The cost of ordinary repairs shall be born by the municipality, and the governing body may levy and collect special taxes upon the abutting property for the purpose of defraying the cost of repairs defined to be extraordinary without previous notice of intention, or any right of the property owners to protest.”

Under the foregoing statute, and under the authorities generally, the abutting property owner or occupier has no obligation or duty to keep the sidewalk in front of his property in repair. This is true even though the property owner constructed the sidewalk, and it was taken over by the city after construction. See *Wright v. Hines*, 235 SW 831; *Carney v. Proctor*, 237 Mass. 203, 129 NE 605; *Birchfield v. Diehl*, 189 SW 845.

V.

THERE IS NO LIABILITY ON THE PART OF AN ABUTTING OWNER OR OCCUPIER UNLESS HE DOES SOMETHING AFFIRMATIVE TO CREATE THE DEFECT.

Atkinson v. Sheriff Motor Co., 203 Iowa 195, 212 NW 484.

The defendant maintained a sales office and service station. A driveway crossed the sidewalk to a side entrance and was used by automobiles and trucks. Such use caused a depression in the sidewalk 6 to 12 inches

wide, 2 feet long and 1½ inches deep. Plaintiff stepped one foot in this depression and fell and was injured. The verdict was directed for defendant. The court held the duty to repair rests with the city, saying:

“It is a general rule, almost universally recognized, that an owner or tenant in the occupancy of a building abutting upon a public sidewalk or street, who, by some affirmative act or perhaps by some act of negligence constituting a nuisance, is liable to persons injured in consequence thereof. (citing cases.)

“It is either conceded or clearly shown by the evidence that the depression in the sidewalk of which plaintiff complained was several years in forming, and that it resulted from the passage of automobiles and trucks from and to the street over the same. It did not result from the affirmative act of the servants or agents of defendant, nor was it the result of negligence on its part.

“Appellee (defendant) did nothing affirmatively to cause the depression in the walk, which was attributable solely to the use made thereof, which was lawful.”

Adams v. Crapotte, 69 SW 2nd 460. Tex.

Defendant leased a garage facing St. Mary's Street. There was an abrasion in the sidewalk at the place where customers and others drove into and out of defendant's place of business. The evidence showed that the use of the driveway by cars going in and out made the hole deeper after defendant's occupancy. Plaintiff fell by stepping into the hole. The jury found defendant negli-

gent in causing this condition to exist, in permitting it to exist and in failing to repair the hole. The plaintiff theory was that defendant was enjoying some kind of special privilege in the sidewalk by using the same as an integral part of his business, for which reason the duty devolved upon him, as the proprietor of the business, to keep the sidewalk in repair.

“It would scarcely seem necessary to cite authorities in support of the proposition that sidewalks are a part of the street, that the duty to exercise ordinary care to maintain them in a reasonably safe condition for the use of the public rests upon the city, and that the abutting owner owes no duty in that regard.

“Plaintiff seeks to hold the tenant liable on the ground that he contributed to this condition by inviting his customers to use the drive in way over the sidewalk. Her theory is based essentially upon the assumption that appellant was making a wrongful use of a portion of the public thoroughfare. Is the assumption correct? We think not. Access to a public highway is an incident to the ownership of land abutting thereon, and the right of such access is private property passing to the lessee. That right cannot be taken for public purposes or destroyed without adequate compensation being made therefor. 26 SW 250; 36 L.R.A. (NS) 662; Ann. Cas. 1913 E 870; 153 NE 325; 47 A.L.R. 897; 13 RCL p. 142, Sec. 126; 44 C.J. Sec. 3711, p. 943.” The court quotes from *Shudder v. Schroth*, 146 Cal. 437, 80 p. 624, as follows:

“ ‘The use of a sidewalk by the owner of a lot for purposes of communication with the street

is equally legitimate, and equally an ordinary use, as that of passing longitudinally along it.' "

"In its last analysis the judgment in the instant case can be upheld alone upon the ground that it is the duty of abutting owners, and likewise of their lessees, to repair the public thoroughfare adjoining their premises. That duty does not exist, but rests exclusively on the municipality, and where there is not duty there can be no negligence."

Home Brewing Co. v. City of Indianapolis, 123 NE 721. (Ind.)

This city was sued for damages by a Mrs. Crawford who fell because of a hole in the sidewalk. The hole was in front of the Brewing Co's premises and was about six inches west of an elevator in the sidewalk used to take beer into and out of the company's basement. In delivering kegs the company would allow them to roll down from the wagon onto a mat and then roll over to the elevator. The effect of the deliveries and uses of the sidewalk was to create the hole which was 2 feet long, 1½ feet wide and 3 inches deep. The city paid the judgment and sued the company to recover the amount it was forced to pay. The court denied judgment saying:

"In order that the city may recover it must appear that the unsafe condition of the sidewalk has been brought about by the wrongful act or omission of such alleged injuring party; and such alleged injuring party will not be estopped from showing that he was under no obligation to keep the street in a safe condition, and that it was not

through his fault that the accident occurred. There is no charge in the complaint that the appellant had made any wrongful use of the sidewalk. It was engaged in a business that at the time was lawful, and it had a right under the law to deliver to its customers its merchandise over and upon the sidewalks of the city. There is no violent or improper act charged. The use of the sidewalk for the purpose of delivering its merchandise was in common with a similar use of the sidewalk made by a number of other persons. The defect was not a result of any affirmative wrongful act on the part of appellant, but was the result of the continuous use thereof for 4 years, or more, by appellant and others, including the general public walking over such sidewalk, which continuous use for 4 years resulted in the defect complained of. All of these uses made of the sidewalk were proper and legitimate and such uses produced the gradual wear which resulted in the defect complained of.

“The duty of repairing streets and sidewalks is upon the city, and not upon the abutting owners, or upon the persons using such streets or sidewalks in a legitimate way and such abutting property owners and such persons so using the street are not liable to a person injured by such uses, unless such uses were wrongful and unlawful.”

Volke v. Otway, 181 A. 156.

Plaintiff sued the owner and tenant of premises abutting a sidewalk for injuries received when she caught her foot in a depression in the sidewalk near an iron door covering the stairway to the cellar of the building.

The plaintiff's theory was that trucks backed up onto the sidewalk, merchandise in heavy parcels were thrown upon the sidewalk next to this iron door and such use caused the depression. There was no testimony as to how long the depression had existed, though it was observed as early as 1918 by one witness. The tenant entered upon the premises in 1934. There was no proof as to what created the depression. The court affirmed a judgment of nonsuit, saying:

“The trial court when passing on the motion to nonsuit was bound to accept as an undisputed fact, with no proof as to its cause, that the depression in the sidewalk which caused the plaintiff's injuries, existed in 1918. The mere happening of an accident, and the fact that a sidewalk has been in a defective and dilapidated condition for several years, to an extent that it constitutes a nuisance, does not in itself render an abutting owner liable to the injured party. The burden is on the plaintiff to show that the owner or his predecessor in title participated in the creation of the nuisance. It is entirely settled in this state that the owner owes no duty to maintain the sidewalk in front of his premises, and is not responsible for any defects therein which are not caused by his own wrongful act.”

There was nothing unlawful, or even extraordinary, in the use of the driveway across the sidewalk under the evidence in this case. The Z.C.M.I. used it to receive merchandise for its tea room and to take out the garbage resulting therefrom. The Standard Furniture Co. used it to take furniture in and out. The law is well settled

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